
 UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT EASTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, §
§

Plaintiff, §
§

versus §           CIVIL ACTION NO. 1:04-CV-42
§

KELLOGG BROWN & ROOT, INC., §
§

Defendant. §
 

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

This action arises under the civil enforcement section of the Anti-Kickback Act (“AKA”),

41 U.S.C. § 8706.  Pursuant to Rule 52(a) and (c) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, the

court, having assessed the credibility of the witnesses and reviewed the documentary evidence, the

deposition submitted in lieu of live testimony, and the transcripts of the court proceedings held

June 22 through 25, 2015, makes the following findings of fact and conclusions of law concerning

Defendant Kellogg Brown & Root, Inc.’s (“KBR”) liability under the AKA for kickbacks

allegedly provided to KBR employees by employees of Eagle Global Logistics (“EGL”) and

Panalpina, Inc. (“Panalpina”).  Specifically, the court finds that KBR is liable under the AKA for

thirty-three kickbacks in the amount of $4,671.05 and thirty-three per occurrence penalties in the

amount of $3,000.00, totaling a civil penalty of $108,342.10.

I. Findings of Fact

A. KBR and LOGCAP III

1. Kellogg Brown & Root LLC is the successor in interest to Kellogg Brown

& Root, Inc., a Delaware corporation with its principal office and place of business located at 601

Jefferson Street, Houston, Texas 77002.
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2. KBR is a large organization and relies heavily on delegating responsibilities

and tasks between groups and departments.  From 2002 to 2005, KBR’s President and CEO relied

on an Executive Team comprised of the Senior Vice Presidents of thirteen business units.

3. The KBR Government Services business unit was responsible for

government contracts.  Government Services was comprised of approximately thirteen functional

and operational subgroups, including a Procurement & Materials (“Procurement”) group and the

Operations, Maintenance & Logistics (“OM&L”) group.

4. In 2003, the Procurement group was headed by a Director of Procurement

& Materials.  In 2004, the Procurement group was headed by a Vice President of Procurement.

5. On December 14, 2001, the United States Army Operations Support

Command awarded contract number DAAA09-02-D-0007, known as Logistics Civil Augmentation

Program (“LOGCAP”) III, to Brown & Root Services, a division of KBR.  LOGCAP III is the

third generation of contracts under the Army’s Logistics Civil Augmentation Program for the

provision of logistical support in the military theater.

6. LOGCAP III is an umbrella contract for an indefinite delivery of an

indefinite quantity of services, known as an “IDIQ” contract.  IDIQ contracts operate through

reimbursable task orders, each of which prescribes a specific scope of work.  The Defense

Contract Audit Agency (“DCAA”) was authorized to audit KBR’s costs under these task orders.

7. Brown & Root Services originally executed the LOGCAP III contract with

the U.S. Army, which included the provision of logistical and other services to the United States

military.  In December 2003, Kellogg Brown & Root Services, Inc. was substituted by novation

as the party to the LOGCAP III contract with the Army.
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8. KBR provided services to the United States military for the provision of a

variety of combat support services, including transportation in support of United States military

operations abroad pursuant to LOGCAP III (e.g., Djibouti, Republic of Georgia, Uzbekistan,

Kuwait, Afghanistan, and Iraq).  

9. From 2003 to 2004, the LOGCAP III contract was overseen by a LOGCAP

III Project Manager within KBR, who reported to the Vice President of OM&L.

10. Within KBR’s LOGCAP III program’s organization, there were KBR

personnel responsible for a variety of procurement functions, which were distributed throughout

KBR Departments, such as Subcontracts, Purchasing, Materials, Government Property, and

Traffic, in Houston as well as in locations in the Middle East.

11. From 2003 to 2004, KBR Procurement personnel assigned to the LOGCAP

III contract located in Houston reported to David Hadcock (“Hadcock”), the Procurement,

Material & Property Manager for LOGCAP III.  For large contracts such as LOGCAP III, the

KBR Project Manager delegated oversight for a particular subcontract to the department and

individual with direct responsibility for the subcontract.  

12. During the 2004 to 2005 time frame, there were approximately 50,000 KBR

employees assigned to support the LOGCAP III contract, including approximately 2,000 KBR

employees in KBR’s Procurement group.

13. Certain task orders under the LOGCAP III contract required the

transportation of equipment and supplies into the theater of operations.

14. KBR hired companies, including EGL and Panalpina, as LOGCAP III

subcontractors to perform certain freight forwarding services.  EGL and Panalpina invoiced KBR
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for services provided, and KBR submitted vouchers to the government for its costs under the

subcontracts in addition to overhead and general and administrative expenses.

15. The government’s acquisition of goods and services is governed by the

Federal Acquisition Regulation (“FAR”).  Section 52.203-7 of the FAR, entitled “Anti-Kickback

Procedures,” was incorporated by reference into the LOGCAP III contract and subcontracts

arising out of the LOGCAP III contract.  See 48 C.F.R. § 52.203-7 (2014).

16. At all times relevant to this lawsuit, KBR had a Code of Business Conduct

that prohibited all KBR employees from accepting gifts or gratuities of more than a nominal

amount or value from subcontractors, including those not affiliated with a government contract. 

KBR’s policy provided that expenditures of nominal amounts by KBR employees should be

included on expenses reports and approved by KBR.

17. In addition, KBR had a zero tolerance policy prohibiting the solicitation or

acceptance of gifts or gratuities for all KBR employees working in the Government Services

business unit, regardless of their value.  KBR’s policy recognized that such gifts in connection

with a government contract “give the appearance of including [KBR’s] business relationship with

a supplier.”  The policy extended to any members of a Government Services employee’s family.

18. KBR employees working in the Government Services unit received annual

training on the zero tolerance policy as part of its procurement ethics training.

B. The Personnel who Handled Freight Forwarding for KBR

19. Robert Bennett, now deceased, was employed by KBR as a Logistics

Supervisor from 2002 to January 2005 and as a Procurement & Materials Manager from January

2005 to October 2006.  He was stationed in Houston, Texas. 
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20. Several KBR employees, including Robert Bennett, were involved in the

day-to-day administration and oversight of transportation subcontracts awarded by KBR under

LOGCAP III. 

21. For some portion of time from 2002 to 2008, KBR employed Anita

Anderson (“Anderson”), James Ramirez (“Ramirez”), and Melissa Page (“Page”) in the

Transportation Department, also known as Traffic or Logistics. 

22. KBR employed James Bennett, Robert Bennett’s son, as a Subcontracts

Administrator from August 1999 to March 24, 2002, and as a Procurement & Materials Manager

from March 25, 2002, to July 12, 2003.  

23. From 2002 to 2005, Kevin Smoot (“Smoot”) and Thomas Kessner

(“Kessner”) were employees of EGL.  Smoot was EGL’s Managing Director of its headquarters

office in Houston.  Kessner was the EGL Project Manager on the EGL subcontract and the

primary point of contact.

24. Grant Wattman (“Wattman”) was a Panalpina employee from at least 2002

to 2007. 

C. The EGL Subcontract

25. In 2002, James Bennett issued a solicitation for bids from ten contractors

to meet KBR’s needs for freight forwarding under LOGCAP III.  Six contractors bid on the

subcontract, including EGL.

26. Upon receiving the bids, four KBR employees in the Subcontracts

Department, including James Bennett, evaluated the bids.  After creating a short list of four

subcontractors, the team visited EGL’s facility and performed both a price and a technical

5

Case 1:04-cv-00042-MAC   Document 235   Filed 10/15/15   Page 5 of 42 PageID #:  4072



evaluation.  During the site visit, the team met with Kessner, who gave them a facility tour and

showed them EGL’s systems.  EGL was ultimately recommended for the subcontract.

27. On April 23, 2002, KBR entered into a subcontract with EGL for freight

forwarding services in support of the LOGCAP III contract.  This subcontract was designated as

Master Agreement Number GU36-HOU-A0003 (the “EGL subcontract”).  James Bennett executed

the master agreement and signed the EGL subcontract on behalf of KBR.  After signing the

contract, James Bennett had no further involvement with the administration or oversight of the

EGL subcontract.

28. Robert Bennett and others in the Traffic Department had contact with EGL

employees, including Smoot and Kessner, in connection with the EGL subcontract.  Indeed, 

oversight for the EGL subcontract was delegated to Robert Bennett, and he was EGL’s primary

point of contact for the EGL subcontract and interacted with Kessner on a regular basis.

29. As required by LOGCAP III, KBR incorporated section 52.203-7 of the

FAR, entitled “Anti-Kickback Procedures,” into the EGL subcontract.

D. Structure of the EGL Subcontract and Process of Work

30. The EGL subcontract was structured as a Master Purchase Agreement

(“MPA”) and operated through work releases.  The MPA provided the pricing, and the individual

work releases specified the equipment and supplies to be moved at any given time in accordance

with the prices established in the MPA.

31. Most of the prices established in the MPA were fixed—a specific price for

a specific service.  Certain services, however, were reimbursed based on EGL’s cost.  These line

items included “third party charges”—charges not able to be identified at the onset of the
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contract—such as war risk surcharges, demurrage fees, fumigation services, and costs associated

with customs clearance, among others.  EGL was reimbursed for these third party charges at cost

without any additional mark up or profit to EGL.

32. The shipping process began with KBR purchasing goods in the United States

and having them delivered to EGL’s warehouse in Houston.  After delivery, EGL employees

would inspect the goods to ensure that they were the proper quality and quantity.  Then, KBR

employees from the Property Department would attach tags to any government property in order

to track the goods to their final destination.  Lastly, EGL would pack and ship the goods to the

appropriate overseas location.

E. Administration of the EGL Subcontract

33. EGL, as the freight forwarder, was responsible for receiving, inspecting,

accepting, and safeguarding materials as well as packing and shipping goods to a final overseas

destination on behalf of KBR.  Kessner was KBR’s contact person at EGL regarding the freight

forwarding contract.

34. KBR’s Traffic Department, at Robert Bennett’s direction, was responsible

for ensuring that EGL met its obligations under the subcontract and for the day-to-day

management and administration of the EGL subcontract.  The Traffic Department was also

responsible for communicating with EGL on issues relating to EGL’s performance on the

subcontract.

35. In addition to the Traffic Department, the Subcontracts, Materials, and

Government Property Departments each had the ability to review the performance of EGL under

specific aspects of the EGL subcontract.   
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36. EGL was paid under the EGL subcontract based on a rate schedule in the

subcontract and any invoices and supporting documentation submitted to KBR’s Traffic

Department that were approved by KBR.  Upon receiving an invoice, the Traffic Department

reviewed it to ensure the rates matched the contract document.  If the invoice had no

discrepancies, the Traffic Department forwarded it to the Subcontracts Department—at the time,

Harold Davis (“Davis”), the Subcontracts Manager—for payment.  It was the Traffic

Department’s responsibility to review the charges and ensure they were appropriate.  Although

there was some oversight by the Subcontracts Department, Davis relied on the Traffic Department

and did not conduct an in-depth review.

37. The Traffic Department reviewed several EGL invoices that contained

improper third party charges, such as war risk surcharges and demurrage charges, that KBR

eventually paid.  At the time the Subcontracts Department approved payment of the invoice, KBR

did not know the charges were improper.  The government was reimbursed for any money EGL

charged KBR, and KBR in turn charged the government, for the fraudulent war risk surcharge

invoices.

F. Performance Issues under the EGL Subcontract

38. If KBR had any issues with EGL’s performance on the EGL subcontract,

it was within the Traffic Department’s discretion whether to elevate the issues within KBR. 

Ultimately, Robert Bennett was tasked with the primary responsibility for overseeing EGL’s

performance and reporting any concerns.

39. EGL’s performance was monitored in part through Reports of Discrepancy

(“ROD”) issued from the end user to the Traffic Department.  It was within Robert Bennett’s

8

Case 1:04-cv-00042-MAC   Document 235   Filed 10/15/15   Page 8 of 42 PageID #:  4075



discretion to determine whether the number of RODs on EGL’s behalf was acceptable.  If EGL’s

performance was unacceptable, KBR could issue a form Letter of Concern or Letter of Caution. 

Although these Letters were issued by Davis in the Subcontracts Department, Davis relied on the

Traffic Department to make him aware of any conditions that would warrant such a letter. 

40. During the course of the EGL subcontract, Davis never issued EGL a Letter

of Concern or Letter of Caution, and Robert Bennett never expressed concerns regarding EGL’s

performance to Davis.  EGL did, occasionally, have minor service failures that were dealt with

directly through Robert Bennett, such as failing to process material within a certain amount of

time.

41. EGL’s performance was also monitored by performance evaluations, which

rated EGL’s performance on quality of work, safety and housekeeping, schedule compliance, and

commercial conformance, to determine whether EGL would receive future work.  The person

performing the evaluations was expected  to obtain the ratings on three of the four categories from

the Logistics Supervisor—Robert Bennett.  The fourth, commercial conformance, was provided

by the Subcontracts Department. 

G. Rebid of the Freight Forwarding Subcontract under LOGCAP III

42.  The EGL subcontract had a term of one year beginning in 2002, with four

option years.  KBR exercised its option twice, extending the EGL subcontract for years 2003 and

2004. 

43. In determining whether to exercise the options under the EGL subcontract,

Robert Bennett, in the Traffic Department, made the initial evaluation and was part of the final

collective decision.  
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44. Ultimately, in 2005, KBR declined to exercise its option to extend the EGL

subcontract.  KBR conducted a new procurement for freight forwarding services in support of the

LOGCAP III contract and solicited new bids for the subcontract.

45. KBR received five bids, including a bid from EGL, and began to perform

site visits and technical evaluations.  In evaluating bids, KBR considered the bidders’ “previous

or current experience in handling projects for KBR and their performance based on information

received from the respective projects,” among other things.  Robert Bennett was the lead technical

expert and executed the technical evaluation.  Davis performed the price analysis, with information

from Robert Bennett, and made the final award determination on the rebid for the subcontract.

46. Following bidding, site visits, technical evaluations, and price analysis,

Panalpina was the overall low bidder and was recommended for the subcontract.

H. The Panalpina Subcontract

47. On March 31, 2005, KBR entered into a subcontract with Panalpina for

freight forwarding services in support of the LOGCAP III contract.  This subcontract was

designated as Master Agreement Number GU36-HOU-A0016 (the “Panalpina subcontract”). 

Davis executed the master agreement and signed the Panalpina subcontract on behalf of KBR.  

48. Robert Bennett and others in the Traffic Department had contact with

Panalpina employees, including Wattman, regarding the Panalpina subcontract.  Robert Bennett

was Panalpina’s primary point of contract for the Panalpina subcontract and interacted with

Wattman on a regular basis.

49. As required by LOGCAP III, KBR incorporated section 52.203-7 of the

FAR, entitled “Anti-Kickback Procedures,” into the Panalpina subcontract.
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50. The Panalpina subcontract was structured similarly to and required the same

responsibilities and process of work  as the EGL subcontract.  Additionally, Panalpina’s invoicing

and performance was reviewed in the same manner as EGL’s under the EGL subcontract. 

I. Federal Investigation 

51. As early as 1996, Special Agent James H. Francis (“Francis”) began

investigating alleged KBR kickbacks when he was alerted by Relator David Vavra (“Vavra”) that

“some sort of difficulty” existed between KBR and a subcontractor “with regard to obtaining

business.”

52. Francis began to work for the Defense Criminal Investigative Service

(“DCIS”) in 2001, investigating allegations of a corrupt relationship between Robert Bennett of

KBR and Bob Curtis of Curtis Air, as well as some other companies. 

53. In 2003, the Federal Bureau of Investigation (“FBI”), along with the United

States Attorney’s Office, created a task force to investigate allegations of wrongdoing with regard

to the LOGCAP III contract.  The task force was administered out of Rock Island, Illinois, and

focused strictly on criminal investigations.  Assistant United States Attorney Jeffrey Lang

(“Lang”) led the investigation.

54. On January 21, 2004, Relators Vavra and Jerry Hyatt filed the original qui

tam complaint against KBR in this litigation under seal.  Their complaint alleged causes of action

under the False Claims Act (“FCA”) and common law unjust enrichment.  The government

intervened in the case on August 2, 2010, adding an AKA claim against KBR.

55. The primary focus of the qui tam investigation was an allegation of war risk

insurance fraud that was allegedly perpetrated by EGL.
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56. In conducting the war risk insurance investigation, the government became

aware of allegations that EGL employees were paying kickbacks to KBR employees in the Traffic

Department.  This information spurred an in-depth investigation into the kickback allegations,

which eventually included an investigation of KBR, EGL, and Panalpina employees, including

Smoot, Robert Bennett, and Wattman.

J. Results of the Investigation

57. On July 20, 2007, Smoot pleaded guilty to one count of violating section

8702 of the AKA and one count of making a false statement to the government in violation of 18

U.S.C. § 1001(a)(2).  Smoot paid restitution in connection with his guilty plea.

58. On August 7, 2008, Robert Bennett pleaded guilty to one count of violating

section 8702 of the AKA for gratuities he accepted from EGL employees on at least 40 different

occasions with a value of approximately $6,000.00, from around March 1, 2003, to April 29,

2005.  Robert Bennett admitted, in the Stipulation of Facts of his Plea Agreement, that he knew

that when the EGL employees provided him with gratuities, they did so with the intent of

obtaining favorable treatment in connection with the EGL subcontract.  Robert Bennett’s plea did

not specify which gratuities served as the basis for his guilty plea.  Robert Bennett paid $6,000.00

in restitution in connection with his guilty plea.

59. Wattman was never interviewed or prosecuted by the federal government. 

60. EGL entered into a $750,000.00 settlement with the Department of Justice

to resolve allegations of kickbacks from Smoot and Kessner to Robert Bennett and James Bennett,

among other things.  EGL did not admit liability for the allegations.
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61. Panalpina entered into a $375,000.00 settlement with the Department of

Justice to resolve allegations of kickbacks discovered during the course of the investigation. 

Panalpina did not admit liability for the allegations.

K. The Kickbacks

62. From 2002 to 2005, Smoot and Kessner provided kickbacks to Robert

Bennett and James Bennett on at least thirty-three occasions in the form of meals, drinks, golf

outings, and other gifts and entertainment.  These kickbacks had a total value of at least

$4,671.05.1

63. The details associated with these kickbacks are accurately captured in

contemporaneous expense reports prepared by Smoot and Kessner and submitted to EGL.  Smoot

and Kessner prepared these reports bi-weekly, complete with details regarding the date of

entertainment, the individual or individuals entertained, the location of the entertainment, the

purpose of the entertainment, and the amount spent and sought to be reimbursed.  Attached to each

expense report were receipts that supported the listed expenses.  Each expense report was typically

reviewed for accuracy against the receipts and accompanying notes by three different individuals: 

1 The court finds that the government did not meet its burden to establish that Smoot and Kessner
provided the Bennetts with kickbacks “in connection with” LOGCAP III on the following occasions: 
dinner and drinks with Robert on August 14, 2003, in the amount of $179.28; lunch with Robert on August
30, 2003, in the amount of $57.60; dinner and drinks with James on September 5, 2003, in the amount
of $87.76; dinner and drinks with James on September 18, 2003, in the amount of $64.26; dinner and
drinks with James on September 18, 2003, in the amount of $89.67; dinner with James on October 2,
2003, in the amount of $50.64; dinner and drinks with James and Robert on November 12, 2003, in the
amount of $80.62; dinner and drinks with James on December 24, 2003, in the amount of $73.50; dinner
with James on January 10, 2004, in the amount of $94.58; and lunch with James on April 1, 2004, in the
amount of $65.86.  Having reviewed the testimony and trial and the admitted exhibits, the court finds that
any entertainment that occurred on these dates was not for the purpose of improperly obtaining favorable
treatment in connection with LOGCAP III or the EGL subcontract.  Rather, Smoot’s and Kessner’s
expense reports reflect that the entertainment occurring on these dates was attributable to projects other
than LOGCAP III, such as the RIO project and domestic business and projects.
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the person submitting the report, his supervisor, and personnel in EGL’s accounting department. 

The court finds that the expense reports serve as reliable proof of Robert Bennett’s or James

Bennett’s presence at each instance of entertainment.

64. Smoot and Kessner both testified credibly that they always verified the

accuracy of the expense report against the receipts and that neither Robert nor James Bennett ever

contributed money or cash to a portion of the entertainment or reciprocated by entertaining Smoot

or Kessner with their own money.  In general, Smoot and Kessner testified honestly and were

credible witnesses at trial. 

65. From April 18, 2003, to June 11, 2004, Smoot provided meals, drinks, golf,

and other entertainment to Robert Bennett for the purpose of improperly obtaining favorable

treatment in connection with LOGCAP III or the EGL subcontract on at least nine occasions with

a total value of at least $1,781.65. 

66. The meals, drinks, golf, and other entertainment were not provided as

innocent or incidental favors.  Further, the full amount of each kickback can be attributed to

Robert Bennett; Smoot would not have been able to expense the costs of the entertainment to EGL

had Robert Bennett not been present.

67. Smoot believed that Robert Bennett could determine how KBR responded

to EGL’s service issues and could influence KBR’s decision to award future subcontracts to EGL. 

Smoot testified that Robert Bennett was “the boss,” “the highest-ranking guy that we dealt with,

and we wanted to develop a relationship” in order to gain “[m]ore business.”  Smoot believed that

Robert Bennett “could speak favorabl[y] of our company” and that “he would have a vote on, you

know, awarding additional contracts when contracts came available.”  Smoot also viewed Robert
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Bennett to be the most important person in the Traffic Department with regard to the award of

future business and controlling service issues, and that Robert Bennett “would bring [service

issues] to [Smoot] before they escalated out of control.”  When asked, Smoot testified that he did

not know of anyone senior to Robert Bennett at the KBR office with whom he interacted on the

EGL subcontract.  

68. When Smoot provided each kickback to Robert Bennett, Smoot reasonably

believed that Robert Bennett possessed the authority within KBR to determine how to respond to

service issues and whether to award future subcontracts to EGL.

69. On November 30, 2003, and February 12, 2004, Smoot provided meals,

drinks, and other entertainment to James Bennett for the purpose of improperly obtaining favorable

treatment in connection with LOGCAP III or the EGL subcontract, with a total value of at least

$494.70. 

70. The meals, drinks, and other entertainment were not provided as innocent

or incidental favors.  Further, the full amount of each kickback can be attributed to James Bennett;

Smoot would not have been able to expense the costs of the entertainment to EGL had James

Bennett not been present. 

71. Smoot entertained James Bennett because James was Robert’s son and

because Smoot believed that James was in the KBR Traffic Department and had a voice in terms

of future business and performance evaluations.

72. When Smoot provided each kickback to James Bennett, Smoot reasonably

believed that James Bennett possessed the authority within KBR to determine whether to award

future subcontracts to EGL.
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73. From March 1, 2003, to June 18, 2004, Kessner provided meals, drinks,

golf, and other entertainment to Robert Bennett for the purpose of improperly obtaining favorable

treatment in connection with LOGCAP III or the EGL subcontract on at least twenty-one 

occasions with a total value of at least $2,338.41.

74. The meals, drinks, golf, and other entertainment were not provided as

innocent or incidental favors.  Further, the full amount of each kickback can be attributed to

Robert Bennett; Kessner would not have been able to expense the costs of the entertainment to

EGL had Robert Bennett not been present. 

75. Kessner believed that Robert Bennett could determine how KBR responded

to EGL’s service issues and could influence KBR’s decision to award future subcontracts to EGL. 

Kessner testified that Robert Bennett “would oversee and make sure that we were doing our job

correctly,” and he “ha[d] a lot of say over . . . [EGL’s] performance” and “a lot of influence at

KBR.”  Kessner additionally “ha[d] no doubt” that Robert Bennett had the ability to influence new

business opportunities for EGL, and that Robert Bennett was “a decision maker” and “the highest

on the totem pole that [Kessner] dealt with.”

76. When Kessner provided each kickback to Robert Bennett, Kessner

reasonably believed that Robert Bennett had the authority within KBR to determine how to respond

to service issues and whether to award future subcontracts to EGL.

77. On March 17, 2003, Kessner provided a golf outing and other entertainment

to James Bennett for the purpose of improperly obtaining favorable treatment in connection with

LOGCAP III or the EGL subcontract, with a total value of at least $56.29. 
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78. The golf outing and other entertainment were not provided as innocent or

incidental favors.  Further, the full amount of each kickback can be attributed to James Bennett;

Kessner would not have been able to expense the costs of the entertainment to EGL had James

Bennett not been present. 

79. Kessner entertained James Bennett because he wanted to generate future

business opportunities and believed that James Bennett was involved in the team that was

evaluating EGL as a possible subcontractor and could therefore award future business to EGL. 

Kessner specifically recalled that James Bennett participated in the procurement process of the

EGL subcontract award, and his belief in James Bennett’s influence continued beyond James

Bennett’s cessation of work on LOGCAP III.

80. When Kessner provided the kickback to James Bennett, Kessner reasonably

believed that James Bennett possessed the authority within KBR to determine whether to award

future subcontracts to EGL.

81. There was no evidence presented that Wattman provided a kickback to

Robert Bennett or James Bennett at any time for an improper purpose in connection with LOGCAP

III or the Panalpina subcontract. 

82. Therefore, the court finds that EGL employees provided kickbacks to KBR

employees on at least thirty-three occasions, with a total value of at least $4,671.05.

83. Any finding of fact more properly characterized as a conclusion of law is

hereby adopted as such.  Any conclusion of law more properly characterized as a finding of fact

is hereby adopted as such. 
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II. Conclusions of Law

A. Burden of Proof 

1. “In a civil case, the same burden of proof applies regardless of whether the

finder of fact is a judge in a bench trial or a jury.”  Fire Ins. Exch. v. McCoy, 637 F. Supp. 2d

991, 992 (M.D. Ala. 2009); see Cabrera v. Jakabovitz, 24 F.3d 372, 380 (2d Cir.), cert. denied,

513 U.S. 876 (1994); Hampton Bermuda Ltd. v. M/V STAR SIRANGER, No. H-05-3074, 2008

WL 1808550, at *4 (S.D. Tex. Apr. 18, 2008).  The United States Supreme Court has held that

“in a typical civil case involving a monetary dispute between private parties, . . . [the] plaintiff’s

burden of proof is a mere preponderance of the evidence.”  Addington v. Texas, 441 U.S. 418,

424 (1979); see Kellogg Brown & Root Servs. Inc. v. United States, 103 Fed. Cl. 714, 772 (Fed.

Cl. 2012) (KBR II) (applying the preponderance of the evidence standard in an AKA case), aff’d

in part, 728 F.3d 1348 (Fed. Cir. 2013), opinion corrected on denial of reh’g, 563 F. App’x 769

(Fed. Cir.), cert. denied, 135 S. Ct. 167 (2014).  The legislative history for the 1986 amendments

to the AKA establishes that “[a]ll of the evidence in a civil action authorized [by the AKA],

including proof of knowledge, may be established by a preponderance of the evidence.”2  132

2 KBR argues that the government must fulfill its burden by clear and convincing evidence, citing
to a single case, Morse Diesel Int’l v. United States, 79 Fed. Cl. 116 (Fed. Cl. 2007).  The court in Morse
Diesel applied a clear and convincing evidence standard based on its finding that the AKA “is both
remedial and punitive.”  Id. at 188 n.3  The United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit has held,
however, that the AKA is a “non-punitive-damages law” that does not “bear the hallmarks of a punitive
damages provision.”  United States ex rel. Vavra v. Kellogg Brown & Root, Inc., 727 F.3d 343, 347 (5th
Cir. 2013) (KBR-Vavra); see Kellogg Brown & Root Servs., Inc., 728 F.3d at 1370 (finding that the AKA
does not involve punitive damages); United States v. Lippert, 148 F.3d 974, 977 (8th Cir. 1998) (“[T]he
penalty in [8706(a)(1)] of twice the amount of each kickback is primarily remedial in purpose and not
punitive in effect.”).  But see United States v. Kruse, 101 F. Supp. 2d 410, 414 (E.D. Va. 2000) (stating
“[a]t least part of the purpose of the Anti-Kickback statute, then, is punitive”).  In light of the legislative
history and conflicting case authority, the court declines to adopt a clear and convincing evidence burden
of proof. 
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CONG. REC. S16,307 (daily ed. Oct. 15, 1986) (statement of Sen. Levin).  This statement was

cited approvingly in a district court case involving an AKA claim, Kellogg Brown & Root Servs.

Inc. v. United States, 99 Fed. Cl. 488, 503 (Fed. Cl. 2011) (KBR I), aff’d, 728 F.3d 1348 (Fed.

Cir. 2013). 

2. “To establish by a preponderance of the evidence means to prove something

is more likely so than not so.”  Fifth Circuit Pattern Jury Instructions:  Civil, § 3.2 at 30 (West

2014); see United States v. Rhodes, 386 F. Supp. 2d 726, 740 n.6 (N.D. Tex. 2005)

(“Preponderance of the evidence is generally defined as the greater weight and degree of credible

evidence and the amount of evidence that persuades [the fact-finder] that a claim is more likely so

than not so.”) (internal quotation marks omitted).  Thus, the government bears the burden of

satisfying the finder of fact that it has proven every element of its claim by a preponderance of the

evidence. 

3. “In bench trials, the judge serves as the sole fact-finder and, thus, assumes

the role of the jury.  In this capacity, the judge’s function includes weighing the evidence,

evaluating the credibility of witnesses, and deciding questions of fact, as well as issues of law.” 

Sandoval v. Hagan, 7 F. Supp. 2d 1234, 1245 (M.D. Ala. 1998), aff’d, 197 F.3d 484 (11th Cir.

1999), rev’d on other grounds, 532 U.S. 275 (2001) (citing Childrey v. Bennett, 997 F.2d 830,

834 (11th Cir. 1993)); accord Becker v. Tidewater, Inc., 405 F.3d 257, 260 (5th Cir. 2005)

(recognizing that the judge is the fact-finder in a non-jury trial); Garr v. W. Sizzler, 273 F.3d

1108, at *2 (5th Cir. 2001) (“It is the function of the district court at [a] bench trial to listen to the

testimony of each witness, weigh his or her credibility, and make factual findings.”).  Moreover,

“[a] trial judge sitting without a jury is entitled to greater latitude in the admission or exclusion
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of evidence.”  In re Red, 96 F. App’x 229, 232 (5th Cir. 2004); Gabriel v. City of Plano, 202

F.3d 741, 745 (5th Cir. 2000).

4. Jurisdiction and venue in this case are proper and uncontested.

B. Anti-Kickback Act

5. This action is governed by the AKA, 41 U.S.C. § 8701-07.  The AKA

prohibits the acceptance or payment of a kickback, as well as the inclusion of any kickback in the

cost of a contract.  See 41 U.S.C. §§ 8701-07; H.R. REP. NO. 99-964, at 4 (1986).  

6. Under the AKA, a kickback is defined as

any money, fee, commission, credit, gift, gratuity, thing of value, or compensation
of any kind that is provided to a prime contractor, prime contractor employee,
subcontractor, or subcontractor employee to improperly obtain or reward favorable
treatment in connection with a prime contract or a subcontract relating to a prime
contract.  

41 U.S.C. § 8701.  

7. The Act also provides: 

(a) The Federal Government in a civil action may recover from a person—

(1) that knowingly engages in conduct prohibited by section 8702 of this
title a civil penalty equal to— 

(A) twice the amount of each kickback involved in the violation;
and

(B) not more than $[11,000.00]3 for each occurrence of
prohibited conduct; and

3 “Acting under the authority of the Federal Civil Monetary Penalties Inflation Adjustment Act of
1990, 28 U.S.C. § 2461 (2006), the Department of Justice increased the amount of the penalty in
§ [8706](a)(1)(B) from $10,000, its original statutory amount, to $11,000.”  KBR-Vavra, 727 F.3d at 347
(citing 28 U.S.C. § 85.3(a)(13)).
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(2) whose employee, subcontractor, or subcontractor employee violates
section 8702 of this title by providing, accepting, or charging a kickback 
The amount of such a civil penalty equal to the amount of that kickback.

41 U.S.C. § 8706(a).  A “person” under the AKA “means a corporation, partnership, business

association of any kind, trust, joint-stock company, or individual.”  41 U.S.C. § 8701.

8. To qualify as a “kickback” pursuant to the AKA, the gratuity or thing of

value must be provided “to improperly obtain or reward favorable treatment.”  41 U.S.C. § 8701. 

Gratuities provided for “permissible purposes, such as innocent or incidental favors, are not

included in the definition of ‘kickback.’”  H.R. Rep. No. 99-924, at 12 (1986), reprinted in 1986

U.S.C.C.A.N 5960, 5969.  The AKA does not specifically define “favorable treatment.” 

Nonetheless, the legislative history offers a non-exclusive list of examples of improper favorable

treatment in addition to explaining that Congress intended “favorable treatment” to be “construed

broadly to reach all instances of behavior which constitute a commercial bribe in connection with

a government contract.”  Id. at 12.  The legislative history provides further guidance to the court

in determining whether a kickback was provided for an improper purpose:

What the Government must prove, through objective or subjective evidence, is that
the reason one person provided something of value to another was to improperly
influence a procurement decision. . . .  [I]n determining whether a subcontractor
provided free airfare, hotel space, and meals to a prime contractor employee
evaluating its facilities for the purpose of “improperly” influencing the employee’s
evaluation, a court may consider the subcontractor’s subjective feelings about the
fairness of its actions, but should concentrate much more on objective ethical
standards governing the propriety of the conduct in question.

132 Cong. Rec. S16307-01, 1986 WL 788464 (Floor Statement of Sen. Levin).  The AKA, unlike

commercial bribery statutes, does not require a quid pro quo.    

9. To recover a civil penalty from KBR under § 8706(a)(1), the government

must prove that KBR knowingly engaged in conduct prohibited by section 8702—providing,
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soliciting, or accepting a kickback, or including the amount of a kickback in the contract price of

a subcontract or prime contract.  41 U.S.C. §§ 8702, 8706.

C. Vicarious Liability under the AKA

10. To establish that KBR engaged in prohibited conduct, the government must

show that KBR is vicariously liable for Robert Bennett’s and James Bennett’s actions, by

demonstrating either that (1) Robert Bennett and James Bennett violated the AKA while acting

within the scope of their employment or (2) Robert Bennett and James Bennett acted with KBR’s

apparent authority in violating the AKA and that there was reliance upon their apparent authority. 

See KBR-Vavra, 727 F.3d at 348-49 (citing RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF AGENCY § 219 (1958));

see also Burlington Indus., Inc. v. Ellerth, 524 U.S. 742, 758 (1998); Am. Soc’y of Mech. Eng’rs,

Inc. v. Hydrolevel Corp. (ASME), 456 U.S. 556, 565-67 (1982).  Here, the government argues

that the Bennetts acted within their apparent authority, not that they were acting in the scope of

their employment with KBR.  

11. “Apparent authority is the power to affect the legal relations of another

person by transactions with third persons, professedly as agent for the [principal], arising from

and in accordance with the [principal’s] manifestations to such third persons.”  KBR-Vavra, 727

F.3d at 349 (quoting ASME, 456 U.S. at 566 n.5).  The agent need not be acting for the benefit

of the principal; so long as the agent is acting with apparent authority, the principal is liable

despite the agent acting solely to benefit himself or the agent making misrepresentations.  See

ASME, 456 U.S. at 566-68; KBR-Vavra, 727 F.3d at 351.  Under this theory, a principal is liable

for its agent’s actions because “the agent’s position facilitates the consummation of the fraud, in

that from the point of view of the third person the transaction seems regular on its face and the

22

Case 1:04-cv-00042-MAC   Document 235   Filed 10/15/15   Page 22 of 42 PageID #:  4089



agent appears to be acting in the ordinary course of the business confided to him.”  ASME, 456

U.S. at 566 (quoting RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF AGENCY § 261 cmt. a).  

12. When determining whether an agent was vested with apparent authority,

courts look to “his position with the company and the circumstances surrounding his past conduct”

in addition to “the parties’ relations to one another, the undertaking in which the parties are

engaged, and the general usages and practices of those engaged in such undertakings.”  Karl Rove

& Co. v. Thornburgh, 39 F.3d 1273, 1297 (5th Cir. 1994); United States v. Bi-Co Pavers, Inc.,

741 F.2d 730, 737 (5th Cir. 1984).

13. Apparent authority can be determined by examining whether the principal

placed the agent in such a position that a third party could have reasonably believed that the agent

was authorized to perform the task at issue.  RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF AGENCY § 8 cmt. (c). 

In the context of this case, the pertinent question is whether KBR placed Robert Bennett and James

Bennett in such a position that Smoot or Kessner could have reasonably believed that Robert

Bennett or James Bennett was authorized to perform the objects of Smoot’s or Kessner’s

kickbacks:  to overlook performance issues on the EGL subcontract or to award future

subcontracts or business to EGL.

14.  KBR placed Robert Bennett, as head of the Traffic Department, in a

position of supervising EGL’s day-to-day performance under the EGL subcontract.  In this

capacity, Robert Bennett had authority over decisions (either directly or by recommendation)

related to EGL’s performance under the subcontract, including whether it would be held

accountable for deficient performance, paying EGL’s invoices under the subcontract, and

evaluating EGL for future business.  Smoot and Kessner, as EGL employees, reasonably believed
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that Robert Bennett was authorized to make these determinations.  Smoot and Kessner regularly

interacted with Robert Bennett and described him as a “decision-maker,” the “highest on the totem

pole,” and the “highest-ranking guy” at KBR, and they could not identify anyone senior to Robert

Bennett at KBR.  Thus, Robert Bennett had apparent authority, vested in him by KBR, during the

time when kickbacks were provided to him by Smoot and Kessner, sufficient to impute vicarious

liability to KBR for his actions.

15.  The court further finds that KBR placed James Bennett, as a subcontract

administrator in KBR’s Subcontracts Department and a person with signatory authority to award

subcontracts, in a position to influence future awards of subcontracts to EGL.  EGL employees,

specifically Smoot and Kessner, reasonably believed that James Bennett continued to exercise

influence over the EGL subcontract well after the subcontract was awarded, despite James Bennett

having extremely limited future involvement in the LOGCAP III project.  KBR’s assignment of

James Bennett to execute the initial award reasonably led Smoot and Kessner to believe that James

Bennett would be awarding future subcontracts, thus allowing Smoot and Kessner to believe that,

by providing kickbacks to James Bennett, they could obtain future subcontracts from KBR.  The

court also finds that James Bennett had actual, delegated authority from the Senior Manager for

Procurement, Materials and Property to sign the EGL subcontract on behalf of KBR.  Therefore,

James Bennett had sufficient authority to impute these acts to KBR such that KBR is vicariously

liable under the AKA for James Bennett’s actions.

D. Knowing Violation of the AKA

16. As previously noted, the government “may recover from a person that

knowingly engages in conduct prohibited by section 8702 of this title.”  41 U.S.C. § 8706(a)(1)
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(emphasis added); see Kellogg Brown & Root Servs., Inc., 728 F.3d at 1368 (“The difference

between § [8706](a)(1) and § [8706](a)(2) is the degree of knowledge that must be proven”).  

17. On appeal, the Fifth Circuit did not make a “determination as to the

knowledge requirement of this statute.”  KBR-Vavra, 727 F.3d at 349.  Thus, the court must

determine what quantum of proof is required from the government to establish a knowing violation

on the part of KBR.  This is a distinct inquiry from that under the vicarious liability prong,

although both center on Robert Bennett or James Bennett, as KBR’s employees.  While vicarious

liability pertains to whether a corporation can be held liable for its employee’s actions, knowledge

imputation asks whether the employee’s mental state can be attributed to the corporation.  See

United States v. A&P Trucking Co., 358 U.S. 121, 127 (1958) (“A corporation is an artificial,

legally created entity that can have no ‘knowledge’ itself and it said to have ‘knowledge’ only

through its employees.”).  Such an inquiry is “a nuanced, fact-reliant question,” which is

“contingent on the specific legal regime involved.”  KBR-Vavra, 727 F.3d at 349, 356; In re

Hellenic Inc., 252 F.3d 391, 395 (5th Cir. 2001).

18. Judge E. Grady Jolly, writing a separate concurring opinion in KBR-Vavra,

faulted the majority for refusing to consider the “knowledge” language, stating that by “failing

to address critical words of the statute,” the majority’s analysis “does not comport with the basic

tenets of statutory interpretation.”  KBR-Vavra, 727 F.3d at 354, 356.  Judge Jolly asserted that

the word “‘knowingly’ modifies ‘person’—making it a qualifier essential to determining whether

vicarious liability may arise.”  Id. at 354.  Viewing the statute in this manner, Judge Jolly found

that “the knowledge requirement means that, when a corporation is being sued, the corporation

(i.e., person) itself must have knowledge of the kickback before liability may arise.”  Id.  Judge
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Jolly explained that this distinction is critical “because we can assume a person who is being

bribed always knows he is being bribed, [therefore] the knowledge requirement would not add to

[§ 8706(a)(1)] if it applied to employees rather than to the corporation itself.”  Id. at 354 n.1. 

Having found that the government must show that the corporation had knowledge, Judge Jolly then

looked to corporate law for an explanation of how an employee’s knowledge may be imputed to

a corporation such that the corporation can be said to have knowledge itself.  After reviewing the

law, Judge Jolly concluded that “properly construed, § [8706](a)(1) holds corporations liable only

for the knowing violations of those employees whose authority, responsibility, or managerial role

within the corporation is such that their knowledge is imputable to the corporation,” which is “a

highly fact-intensive analysis.”  Id. at 355-56.

E. Kellogg Brown & Root Servs., Inc.

19. The Federal Circuit’s decision in Kellogg Brown & Root Servs., Inc. was

issued less than two months after the Fifth Circuit’s decision in KBR-Vavra, and rests on facts

similar to those of the instant case:  the government asserted, among other claims, that KBR

employees Terry Hall (“Hall”) and Luther Holmes (“Holmes”) accepted kickbacks from the vice

president of a subcontractor under LOGCAP III.  Kellogg Brown & Root Servs., Inc., 728 F.3d

at 1353.  Following a bench trial, the district court concluded that an award under § 8706(a)(1)

was not warranted because “the KBR officials who accepted kickbacks were not sufficiently senior

to warrant a finding of vicarious liability in this case,” but awarded the government $38,000.00

under § 8706(a)(2).  Id. at 1368; see KBR II, 103 Fed. Cl. at 776.  

20. On appeal, the Federal Circuit agreed with the district court that § 8706(a)

“contemplates vicarious liability in both civil penalty provisions under subsections 1 and 2,” and
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explained that “[t]he difference between § [8706](a)(1) and § [8706](a)(2) is the degree of

knowledge that must be proven.”  Kellogg Brown & Root Servs., Inc., 728 F.3d at 1368.  The

court then held that “an agent’s knowledge is imputed to the principal when employees are acting

with[in] the scope of their authority or employment, absent special circumstances”—circumstances

that, the court found, did not apply.  Id. at 1369-70.  In so holding, the court rejected KBR’s

assertion that knowledge can be imputed to a corporation “only when the agent serves in a

managerial capacity,” and reversed and remanded the case to the district court “with instructions

to calculate damages consistent with the holding that KBR is liable for AKA violations under

section [8706](a)(1).”  Id. at 1370.  The Federal Circuit did not remand for a determination of

whether Hall’s and Holmes’s knowledge could be imputed to KBR because “the trial court already

found that [they] were acting ‘as KBR employees and operating under LOGCAP III’ when they

accepted the kickbacks.”  Id. at 1370 n.25; see KBR II, 103 Fed. Cl. at 772. 

21. Also similarly to KBR-Vavra, the majority was a two-judge majority, with

Judge Pauline Newman concurring in part and dissenting in part.  Kellogg Brown & Root Servs.,

Inc., 728 F.3d at 1372.  Judge Newman argued that the double-penalty provision should not apply

to KBR because “[t]here was no evidence that KBR ‘received a benefit’ from these bribes to its

employees, . . . or had knowledge of the kickbacks at the time.”  Id. at 1373.  The majority held,

according to Judge Newman, that KBR was liable for the double-penalty despite the fact that “it

appears undisputed that KBR did not have actual knowledge.”  Id.  In doing so, Judge Newman

asserted that her “colleagues have removed the distinction between the two subsections of

§ [8706](a), by imposing the double penalty provision of § [8706](a)(1) in circumstances that

invoke only the single strict liability provision of § [8706](a)(2).”  Id. at 1374.
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F. Legislative History

22. The AKA was amended in 1986 “to enhance the government’s ability to

prevent and prosecute kickback practices” in connection with contracts of the federal government. 

H.R. REP. NO. 99-964, at 4 (1986).  The amendments were designed to “close loopholes in and

broaden the coverage” of the AKA.  S. REP. NO. 99-435, at 2.  Having found that the prior act

“has limited civil recovery provisions,” the amendments sought to expand civil liability in two

ways:  first, by “permitting civil recovery against anyone who violates the Act” under

§ 8706(a)(2), including prime contractors who were exempted under the original act; and second,

by “authorizing double damages and forfeitures in cases of knowing misconduct” under

§ 8706(a)(1).  Id. at 9, 14-15.  

23. Because the original act permitted recovery against only “‘the subcontractor

or the recipient’ of a kickback,” prime contractors were not liable for kickback costs passed on

to the government.  Id. at 14.  The prime contractors argued that they were properly exempted

because they are often unknowing victims themselves of subcontract kickback fraud.  Id.  Yet,

Congress rejected this argument, stating that “prime contractor employees are commonly key

participants in the kickback schemes;” that prime contractors are “responsible for the actions of

their employees” because they are “better situated than the Government to detect and prevent

kickback schemes perpetrated by their employees and subcontractors;” and that the amendments

“base[ ] the prime contractor’s liability upon its own wrong action—charging the United States for

the cost of illegal kickbacks,” whether or not the prime contractor knows that the illegal kickback

is included in its costs.  Id. at 14-15.
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24. Second, Congress found that by recovering a penalty equal to the amount

of the kickback at issue, the government was not being fully compensated for its loss, which, in

addition to the increased contract price, includes “the costs of detecting and investigating the

kickbacks; the cost of kickbacks [the government] fails to discover; and . . . other excess charges

and performance problems caused by corrupt subcontractors.”  Id. at 16.  The amendments aimed

to fix this problem by providing a provision that would authorize double damages plus a per-

occurrence penalty “in cases where a person knowingly engages in prohibited conduct.”  Id. at

15.  Originally, the bill increased the penalty to double damages for all cases, but Congress

amended the provision, limiting it only to knowing violations, explaining: 

This change was made in response to claims by prime contractors that they often
unknowingly pass on kickback costs resulting from misconduct between lower tier
subcontractors, where no prime contractor employee was involved in the fraud. 
In such cases, the prime contractors believe it was unfair to hold them accountable
for double damages and forfeitures, even where such damages were necessary to
compensate the government.  Recognizing that prime contractors can be unwitting
participants in lower tier kickback schemes and that the provision for double
damages and forfeitures represents a significant civil liability, the Committee
agreed to restrict this type of recovery to cases of knowing violations.

Id. at 16-17.  Senator Carl Levin further elaborated on the “knowing” element in the Senate floor

debate, stating:  “To meet the standard, the United States has to prove that the alleged wrongdoer

was acting with awareness of what he or she was doing and not acting through mistake,

inadvertence or mere negligence. . . . [I]t only has to show that the alleged wrongdoer made

conscious decisions to act.”  132 CONG. REC. 16,307 (1986).

25.  After considering each of these authorities, it appears that there are three

interpretations of the knowledge component of the AKA:  (1) an employee’s knowledge is

sufficient by itself to impute knowledge to the corporation; (2) an employee’s authority,
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responsibility, or managerial role must be considered in deciding whether to impute knowledge

to the corporation; and (3) an agent’s knowledge is imputed to the principal when employees are

acting within the scope of their authority or employment.

G. Proper Knowledge Standard to Apply

26. The government asserts that the first interpretation is proper:  that it is not

required to prove anything beyond apparent authority to impute Robert Bennett’s or James

Bennett’s knowledge to KBR and hold KBR liable for a knowing violation of the AKA.  The

government argues that this interpretation is in line with Congress’s intent in amending the AKA,

as it believed that “[p]rime contractors are better situated than the Government to detect and

prevent kickback scheme perpetrated by their employees and subcontractors” and that the double

damages penalty serves as an incentive “to exercise their oversight capabilities.”  As discussed

above, however, were the court to adopt such a standard, it would essentially render the word

“knowingly” meaningless, as it would impose heightened liability on a prime contractor who is

potentially without knowledge of its employees’ prohibited conduct.  While the court is not

persuaded that KBR is without knowledge here, as will be discussed shortly, to hold that only

Robert Bennett’s and James Bennett’s knowledge is required would essentially equate apparent

authority with knowledge and potentially lead to future findings of liability on behalf of unknowing

prime contractors.  That said, the court agrees that prime contractors are in the best position to

prevent kickback schemes; nonetheless, the court may not ignore the statutory language requiring

the government to prove that KBR knowingly engaged in prohibited conduct under § 8706(a)(1). 

Reiter v. Sonotone Corp., 442 U.S. 330, 339 (1979) (“In construing a statute, we are obliged to

give effect, if possible, to every word Congress used.”); see KBR-Vavra, 727 F.3d at 348 (“Under
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§ [8706](a)(1), the government must prove a ‘knowing[ ]’ violation before it may obtain double

damages and per-occurrence recoveries.  Section [8706](a)(2) requires no proof of ‘knowing’

misconduct.”).  Had the government sought to hold KBR liable under § 8706(a)(2), a showing of

KBR’s knowledge would not be required.  That is simply not the case here. 

27. On the other end of the knowledge spectrum, requiring the government to

show that Robert Bennett and James Bennett were acting within the scope of their employment to

impute their knowledge to KBR contravenes the Fifth Circuit’s directive on appeal in this case. 

As previously stated, to hold KBR vicariously liable, the government may show either that a KBR

employee was acting within the scope of his employment in violating the AKA or, if he was acting

outside the scope of employment, that he was acting with apparent authority.  To adopt a standard

requiring the employee to be acting within the scope of his employment in order to impute

knowledge to the corporation would effectively prevent a corporation from ever being held liable

for a knowing violation under the AKA on an apparent authority basis.  Indeed, where, as here,

the government does not assert that either Robert Bennett or James Bennett was acting within the

scope of his employment, a discussion of apparent authority would be meaningless, as their

knowledge could not be imputed to KBR, and a finding of apparent authority would not be

necessary to hold KBR liable under § 8706(a)(2).  Surely, this is not the result Congress intended.

28. The last option—that asserted by Judge Jolly in his concurring opinion—sets

forth a more accurate standard that is in line with congressional intent.  By considering, on a case-

by-case basis, whether an employee had the authority, responsibility, or managerial role within

a corporation such that his knowledge can fairly be said to be imputed to the corporation, the court

gives meaning to the word “knowingly” in the statute and aligns the AKA with basic tenets of

31

Case 1:04-cv-00042-MAC   Document 235   Filed 10/15/15   Page 31 of 42 PageID #:  4098



agency law construing statutes similarly requiring a showing of knowledge.4  See KBR-Vavra, 727

F.3d at 355 (Jolly, J. concurring); 10 WILLIAM MEADE FLETCHER ET AL., FLETCHER CYCLOPEDIA

OF THE LAW OF CORPORATIONS § 807 (2012 ed.) (“Whether an individual’s knowledge will be

imputed to the corporation depends on a factual determination, according to the particular

circumstances, of the individual’s position in the corporate hierarchy; the person need not

necessarily be either a shareholder or an officer.”).

H. Imputing Robert Bennett’s and James Bennett’s Knowledge

29. Thus, having shown that KBR is vicariously liable for Robert Bennett’s and

James Bennett’s actions, the government must demonstrate that Robert Bennett and James Bennett

had the authority, responsibility, or managerial role in KBR such that KBR can be said to have

itself knowingly engaged in prohibited conduct.  

30. The court finds that KBR tasked Robert Bennett with supervising and

overseeing EGL’s performance under its freight forwarding subcontract in connection with

LOGCAP III.  Testimony at trial established that Robert Bennett was responsible for ensuring that

EGL met its obligations under the subcontract, for the day-to-day management and administration

of the EGL subcontract, and for communication with EGL on any performance issues.  Robert

Bennett additionally reviewed EGL invoices and submitted them for payment.  Robert Bennett was

also part of a collaborative process to determine whether to exercise options under the EGL

subcontract and to execute technical evaluations for rebidding the freight forwarding subcontract. 

Accordingly, Robert Bennett had sufficient authority and responsibility for his knowledge to be

imputed to KBR.

4 To the extent that this holding conflicts with that in the court’s April 13, 2015, Memorandum and
Order (#159) denying the government’s motion for partial summary judgment, this decision controls.
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31. Additionally, there is ample evidence for the court to find that Robert

Bennett knew that Smoot and Kessner were providing him entertainment to obtain or reward

improper favorable treatment in connection with LOGCAP III.  Robert Bennett admitted as much

in his plea agreement, and there was significant evidence that Robert Bennett knew of KBR’s

policies prohibiting the acceptance of any thing of value, including meals and other entertainment,

yet he continued to accept Smoot’s and Kessner’s offers.  As a result, the government has shown

by a preponderance of the evidence that KBR is liable for knowingly engaging in a kickback

scheme in violation of § 8706(a)(1) of the AKA, based on Robert Bennett’s conduct. 

32. The court also finds that KBR tasked James Bennett with evaluating and

awarding the EGL subcontract and with responsibility for awarding and administering other

subcontracts on behalf of KBR.  Although James Bennett did not have an official managerial

position at KBR, he did have signature authority in the amount of $250,000.00, and testimony and

evidence adduced at trial established that he had the authority and responsibility within KBR to

award subcontracts in connection with LOGCAP III.  Indeed, James Bennett had actual, delegated

authority to execute the master agreement and sign the EGL subcontract on behalf of KBR.  Such

significant responsibility supports a finding that James Bennett’s knowledge may be imputed to

KBR.  

33. Finally, the court concludes that evidence at trial established that James

Bennett, and thus KBR, knew of Smoot’s and Kessner’s improper purposes in providing

entertainment to James Bennett.  Accordingly, the government has shown by a preponderance of

the evidence that KBR is liable for knowingly engaging in a kickback scheme in violation of

§ 8706(a)(1) of the AKA, based on James Bennett’s conduct.
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34. In conclusion, the government has met its burden of establishing by a

preponderance of the evidence that KBR knowingly violated § 8702—a showing sufficient to hold

KBR liable for a civil penalty of double the amount of the kickbacks provided and a per-

occurrence penalty under § 8706(a)(1)—based on Robert Bennett’s and James Bennett’s knowing

violations of the AKA with regard to kickbacks offered by EGL employees.  The government

failed to meet its burden with regard to kickbacks allegedly offered by Panalpina employees.

I. Double Damages and Per-Occurrence Penalty 

35. Kickbacks are often difficult to discover and value because they are usually

made “in secrecy.”  In rejecting a contractor’s assertion that “kickbacks can easily be detected and

recovered,” the Supreme Court explained: 

This is hardly the case.  Kickbacks being made criminal means that they must be
made—if at all—in secrecy.  Though they necessarily inflate the price to the
Government, this inflation is rarely detectable. . . .  Kickbacks will usually not be
discovered, if at all, until after the prime contract is let.

United States v. Acme Process Equip. Co., 385 U.S. 138, 144 (1966).

36.  Given the inherent difficulty in discovering kickbacks and the compensatory

and deterrent purposes of the AKA, courts should be flexible in assessing the civil penalties

imposed under the AKA.  See KBR-Vavra, 727 F.3d at 352 (“Courts retain the discretion to tailor

the size of the per-occurrence penalty they award under [section 8706(a)(1)] to fit the facts of the

case”); Morse Diesel Int’l, Inc., 79 Fed. Cl. at 124 (recognizing that Congress afforded “courts

considerable discretion in calculating damages and ascertaining the amount of the civil penalty

component” of the AKA).

37. This standard is consistent with the commonly-espoused principle that

although “damages may not be determined by mere speculation or guess, it will be enough if the
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evidence shows the extent of the damages as a matter of just and reasonable inference, although

the result be only approximate.”  DSC Commc’ns Corp. v. Next Level Commc’ns, 107 F.3d 322,

330 (5th Cir. 1997).  “Although damages need not be established with mathematical precision, the

evidence must provide a basis for reasonable inferences.”  Dyll v. Adams, 167 F.3d 945, 947 (5th

Cir. 1999) (citing Richter, S.A. v. Bank of Am. Nat’l Trust & Sav. Ass’n, 939 F.2d 1176, 1188

(5th Cir. 1991)).  Further, “there is a distinction between uncertainty about the fact of damages

and uncertainty about the amount of damages” in that “[u]ncertainty as to the fact of legal damages

is fatal to recovery, but uncertainty as to the amount will not defeat recovery.” Dyll, 167 F.3d at

947.  Although these cases involve damages, the court finds that the same principles apply to

assess the amount of civil penalties under the AKA.  

38. Based on the evidence produced at trial and the foregoing legal authority,

the government has shown by a preponderance of the evidence that Smoot provided at least nine

kickbacks to Robert Bennett with a value of $1,781.65, and Kessner provided at least twenty-one

kickbacks to Robert Bennett with a value of $2,338.41.  The total value of these thirty kickbacks

is $4,120.06.  Under 41 U.S.C. § 8706(a)(1)(A), this amount must be doubled, making KBR

liable for $8,240.12 for kickbacks provided to Robert Bennett.

39. Based on the evidence produced at trial and the foregoing legal authority,

the government has shown by a preponderance of the evidence that Smoot provided at least two

kickbacks to James Bennett with a value of $494.70, and Kessner provided at least one kickback

to James Bennett with a value of $56.29.  The total value of these three kickbacks is $550.99. 

Under 41 U.S.C. § 8706(a)(1)(A), this amount must be doubled, rendering KBR liable for

$1,101.98 for kickbacks provided to James Bennett.
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40. In addition, the court finds KBR liable for a civil penalty of $3,000.00 for

each occurrence of a kickback under 41 U.S.C. § 8706(a)(1)(B) for the following reasons:  

(1) KBR placed Robert Bennett and James Bennett in positions

responsible for awarding and overseeing millions of dollars in

subcontracts that KBR knew would be charged to the government

and yet provided little oversight.  

(2) KBR had a duty under LOGCAP III to ensure that its employees, its

subcontractors, and its subcontractors’ employees did not violate or

engage in conduct prohibited by the AKA.  

(3) Despite this duty, KBR allowed Robert Bennett’s and James

Bennett’s conduct to go unchecked for over two years.  

(4) Robert Bennett violated the AKA by more than a mere

preponderance of the evidence.  He committed a crime for which he

pleaded guilty, acknowledging the fact that the government could

prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Robert Bennett had accepted

kickbacks knowingly and willfully.  

(5) The government’s estimate of the value of the kickbacks almost

certainly understates the total amount of kickbacks.  For example,

Smoot testified that he pleaded guilty to giving kickbacks on

approximately 90 occasions valued at $25,377.00.  Further, the

evidence shows that EGL provided kickbacks to several members

of the Traffic Department under Robert Bennett’s supervision,
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though the government chose not to pursue a civil penalty for these

kickbacks.  Had KBR, through training, supervision, and guidance,

impressed on its employees a culture of integrity and been diligent

in monitoring the EGL subcontract, it is unlikely that so many could

have so openly and for so long accepted these kickbacks without

concern for their jobs, or any thought that someone would blow the

whistle.  

(6) Despite Robert Bennett’s guilty plea and the overwhelming evidence

that KBR is liable for the kickbacks accepted by Robert Bennett and

James Bennett, KBR has forced the government to incur substantial

costs in pursuing its AKA claims through many years of litigation,

including an appeal to the Fifth Circuit and a four-day trial.  

(7) It is difficult, even with such a civil penalty, to compensate the

government for KBR’s corruption involving contracts critical to

providing the military with equipment and supplies needed to

protect this country’s national security. 

41. In KBR-Vavra, the court recognized that although the AKA’s “double

damages and per-occurrence penalties may result in recoveries in excess of the proven value of

the kickback exchanged,” such recoveries reflect the “insufficiency of recovering the simple,

estimated dollar value of a kickback to fully compensate the government for its kickback-related

losses.”  727 F.3d at 352 (citing Acme Process, 385 U.S. at 144-45).  The panel also cited the

Supreme Court’s decision in ASME, which discussed the treble damages provision under the False
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Claims Act as helping to compensate the government for the costs of prosecuting an action.  Id.

(citing ASME, 456 U.S. at 575); see United States v. Aleff, 772 F.3d 508, 512-513 (8th Cir. 2014)

(upholding False Claims Act award including $660,000.00 in civil penalties as not excessive,

noting “[t]he United States also had to bear the cost of investigating the fraud and suffered damage

to the integrity of one of its programs.”).  

42. The legislative history of the 1986 AKA amendments confirms that the

per-occurrence penalty, in addition to double the amount of the kickbacks involved, is appropriate

to compensate the government for its costs of investigating and prosecuting kickbacks: 

In providing for recovery by the government of double the kickback amount and
up to [$11,000.00] in civil cases involving a knowing violation of section 3, the bill
fixes an amount which reasonably relates to the actual costs the government suffers
when kickbacks occur. . . .  In addition to increased prices the government may
suffer increased costs from the delivery of substandard goods or by poor
performance under the contract.  Further, the government incurs expenses in
investigating and prosecuting kickback cases.

H.R. Rep. No. 99-964 at 15, 1986 U.S.C.C.A.N. at 5972; see id. at 10, 1986 U.S.C.C.A.N. at

5967 (noting hearing testimony that AKA pre-amendment civil penalties were “inadequate to

provide either the full recovery to the government of the true damage it may have suffered or to

deter kickbacks,” including “tremendous expenses in investigating and prosecuting the

misbehavior”).

43. Imposing a civil penalty of $3,000.00 for each of the proven kickbacks will

help compensate the government for its extraordinary costs in investigating and prosecuting the

kickback scheme perpetrated by the Bennetts and other KBR employees.  Testimony from Special

Agent Francis confirmed that the government began its investigation in 2004, which involved

multiple federal agencies including the DCIS and FBI.  The government also undertook extensive
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prosecutorial efforts, including convening a grand jury which resulted in guilty pleas by Robert

Bennett and Smoot, as well as pursuing its civil claims under the AKA in this court and on appeal

to the Fifth Circuit.

44. Additionally, a civil penalty of $3,000.00 is appropriate and not excessive

in proportion to the total dollar value of the kickbacks that Robert Bennett and James Bennett

received because of the critical need to deter such misconduct in the future, the evidence of

improper charges under the subcontract, and the evidence of other kickbacks revealed in the record

but not asserted in this case by the government.  See Commodity Futures Trading Comm’n v. Levy,

541 F.3d 1102, 1112 (11th Cir. 2008) (upholding civil money penalties of $120,000.00 for five

violations, despite defendant’s protests that the penalties were excessive because he only made

$20,000.00 on the wrongful transactions, because of “the undeniable need to deter [the defendant]

from committing similar violations in the future”).  Here, there is ample evidence that the

government pursued only a small subset of the kickbacks EGL employees provided KBR

employees.  Smoot’s and Kessner’s expense reports show numerous other kickbacks to Robert

Bennett and James Bennett, as well as kickbacks to other KBR employees, such as Page and

Ramirez, whom Kessner testified he also entertained.  

45. In this regard, an important consideration in determining the amount of the

civil penalty to be imposed is that one of the primary purposes of the AKA is to deter contractor

employees from accepting, and offering, kickbacks.  For example, the legislative history of the

AKA’s 1986 amendments states: 

In allowing for an additional award of up to $[11,000.00], the court is given
discretion to provide greater recovery when it is due.  The additional award can
also provide a sufficient deterrent amount when the kickback amount itself is small. 
The Committee believes that these amounts are reasonable in light of the serious
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harm caused the government by kickbacks and the need to prevent such
misbehavior.

H.R. Rep. No. 99-964 at 15, reprinted in 1986 U.S.C.C.A.N. at 5972 (emphasis added).  See S.

Rep. 99-435 at 2 (purpose of the amendments is “to close loopholes in and broaden the coverage

of the Anti-Kickback Act . . . in order to deter kickbacks relating to subcontracts under Federal

Government contracts”).    

46. The AKA is intended not only to promote deterrence by holding contractors

accountable for kickbacks, but also to ensure that contractors establish sufficient controls to

prevent kickbacks from occurring.  Thus, in addition to the civil penalties and criminal sanctions

authorized by the AKA, § 8703 requires contracting agencies to include as terms in their contracts

requirements that the contractor shall (1) “have in place and follow reasonable procedures

designed to prevent and detect violations of section 8702 . . . in its own operations and direct

business relationships”; (2) “cooperate fully with a Federal Government agency investigating a

violation of section 8702”; and (3) “promptly report” to the procuring agency’s Inspector General

any possible violation of the AKA.  The legislative history of the 1986 amendments confirms this

purpose.  See H.R. Rep. No. 99-964 at 15, 1986 U.S.C.C.A.N. at 5972 (“The Committee

believes that such liability [under section 8706(a)(1)] would provide a strong incentive for

contractors to scrutinize their subcontracting arrangements to ensure kickbacks do not occur.”);

id. at 18, 1986 U.S.C.C.A.N. at 5975 (stating that the AKA provisions are “intended to require

prime contractors to institute formal procedures to detect and eliminate kickbacks”).

47.  These deterrence objectives warrant imposing a $3,000.00 per-occurrence

civil penalty on KBR.  At trial, KBR witnesses referenced provisions in KBR compliance codes

prohibiting any personnel involved in government contracting from accepting kickbacks and

40

Case 1:04-cv-00042-MAC   Document 235   Filed 10/15/15   Page 40 of 42 PageID #:  4107



mentioned annual training courses that reminded employees of the prohibition on kickbacks.  It

is clear, however, that these measures were widely ignored within KBR’s Houston Traffic

Department.  The government produced evidence to show that multiple KBR employees accepted

drinks, meals, golf outings, and other entertainment from EGL employees over several years,

sometimes as frequently as weekly.  Given the difficulty in discovering kickbacks, the court finds

that a $3,000.00 per-occurrence civil penalty is sufficient to deter future conduct and compensate

the government for its losses, costs of investigation, and any excess charges or performance

problems caused by the kickback scheme.

48. For these reasons, the court concludes that KBR knowingly engaged in

conduct prohibited by 41 U.S.C. § 8702 and is thus required to pay the government a civil penalty

of $108,342.10. 

49. The government is additionally entitled to recover court costs.  See 28

U.S.C. § 1920.

50. Any conclusion of law more properly characterized as a finding of fact is

hereby adopted as such.  Similarly, any finding of fact more properly characterized as a conclusion

of law is hereby adopted as such. 

III. Summary

For the foregoing reasons, KBR shall pay the government a civil penalty in the amount of

$108,342.10, as set forth in these findings of fact and conclusions of law.  The government is

additionally entitled to court costs.  Any relief not expressly granted is denied.
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